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Bravura Holdings Limited (previously CMB International Ltd)  
(Bravura Holdings or “the Group”) is pleased to present its  
annual integrated report.

This report covers all our operations across the various geographies in 
which we operate and has been structured to provide stakeholders with 
relevant financial and non-financial information.

The information included in the annual integrated report has been provided 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001, Financial Reporting Act 2004, Mauritius 
Securities Act 2005, SEM Listing Rules, NSX Listings Requirements and 
Integrated Reporting Framework.

ABOUT THIS REPORT
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Country of incorporation and domicile Mauritius

Nature of business and principal activities Investment holding
 
Directors UK Gujadhur
 R Taposeea
 Ben Lim
 SM Hay
 AD du Plessis
 JHP van der Merwe (resigned 31 May 2017)
 KP Padayachy

Registered office and business address c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited
 Level 3, Alexander House
 35 Cybercity
 Ebène 72201
 Mauritius

Postal address Level 3, Alexander House
 35 Cybercity
 Ebène 72201
 Mauritius

Bankers The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited
 Bank Windhoek Limited

Auditors KPMG Mauritius
 31 Cybercity
 Ebène
 Mauritius

Secretary Intercontinental Trust Limited

Company registration number 132144 C1/GBL

SEM authorised representative and sponsor Perigeum Capital

Namibian sponsor PSG

COMPANY PROFILE

Bravura Holdings Limited is a Mauritian-incorporated 
entity holding a category 1 global business licence issued 
by the Financial Services Commission (FSC) and is listed 
on the Official List of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius 
(SEM) and on the main board of the Namibian Stock 
Exchange (NSX).

Bravura Holdings aims to invest through its subsidiaries 
in financial services and investment banking businesses in 
various Southern African markets. The Company believes 
that the timing is opportune for a consolidation of 
medium-sized investment banking and advisory firms and 
its strategy is therefore to invest through its subsidiaries 
in several financial services businesses in various markets 
in Southern Africa and in entities that have focussed their 
investments in financial instruments, including derivatives 
and equity. 

Bravura Holdings was established to meet an existing 
demand in this market, and it intends to take advantage 

of the business relationships, skills, market knowledge and 
experience of its management and board of directors to 
fulfil its business objectives.

Bravura Holdings believes that the extraordinary business 
growth in the Southern African market and concurrent 
client demand position the Group to: 
•  capitalise on a recovery in the merger and 

acquisition market;
•  benefit from the opportunity to grow our corporate 

finance and structured solutions services into an 
expanding client base and markets; and

•  provide new services and products to its existing 
and new clients. 

Bravura Holdings is led by a team of individuals with 
significant experience and successful track records 
in financial services businesses, and sufficient and 
satisfactory experience in the management of global 
businesses.
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PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

CURRENT PORTFOLIO

On 9 October 2015, Bravura Holdings issued its listing 
particulars relating to:
•  the admission of 115,098,380 ordinary shares of no 

par value of Bravura Holdings on the Official List 
of the SEM by way of an introduction with a total 
value of USD 11,509,838; and

•  the issue and listing of up to 244,901,620 
additional ordinary shares of no par value of 
Bravura Holdings on the Official List of the SEM 
in terms of various future private placements, at 
an offer price to be decided by the board in due 
course in line with the constitution of the Company.

Subsequent to the issue of the listing particulars:
•  The secondary listing of the Company’s shares on the 

main board of the NSX was approved by the NSX on 
10 November 2015 and the shares were listed on the 
NSX with effect from 23 November 2015.

•  Bravura Holdings, through its wholly-owned South 
African subsidiary Bravura South Africa Proprietary 
Limited (previously Quonet Proprietary Limited), 
concluded an agreement with the shareholders 
of Bravura Equity Proprietary Limited for the 
acquisition of the entire ordinary share capital of 
Bravura Equity. As a result of this transaction, the 
Company issued 81,728,317 additional ordinary no 
par value shares through its Namibian share register 
on 25 January 2016. These shares were listed on the 
NSX and the SEM with effect from 25 January 2016.

•  On 18 May 2016, Bravura Holdings, via its 
subsidiary Starting Right Investments 286 
Proprietary Limited, acquired 100 ordinary shares, 
representing 100% holding in NSB Investments 
Proprietary Limited, for a purchase consideration of 
NAD 11,241,658. 

•  On 25 July 2016, the Company further subscribed 
for 25 ordinary shares in Nilaplex Proprietary 
Limited for a total subscription price of ZAR 
60,000,000.

•  During the year, African Rainbow Capital (ARC), 
invested in a 29.9% shareholding of Bravura 
Holdings. ARC is a 99% B-BBEE accredited, 
African private equity fund, focussed on the South 
African and African financial services industry, 
and businesses that deliver exceptional returns 
on equity. ARC is a subsidiary of Ubuntu-Botho 
Investments Proprietary Limited, a broad-based 
black empowerment investment holding company. 
The Board of Directors believes that this strategic 
alliance with ARC will be beneficial to the Company 
and significantly enhance the Company’s ability to 
compete in the provision of advisory services and 
product offerings in the South African markets, 
through its subsidiaries.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

As mentioned in the 2016 report, the Group’s aim is 
to invest in financial services and investment banking 
businesses in various Southern African markets. Its 
strategy is, therefore, to invest in several financial services 
businesses in various markets in Southern Africa and in 
entities with focussed investments in financial instruments, 
including derivatives and equity. 

The Group intends to take advantage of the business 
relationships, skills, market knowledge and experience of 
its management and board of directors to fulfil its business 
objectives and believes that the extraordinary business 
growth in its chosen market and concomitant client 
demand position the Group to capitalise on a recovery 
in the merger and acquisition market, benefit from the 
opportunity to grow its advisory and structured solutions 
services into an expanding client base and market and 
provide new services and products to its existing and new 
clients. 

The timing is opportune for consolidation amongst the 
medium-sized financial services firms in Southern Africa 
and Bravura Holdings’ significant skills base positions the 
Group to be central to such consolidation. The Group 
is managed by a team of highly qualified, experienced 
and technically strong individuals with a good work 
ethic, and the founders of the Group are still actively 
involved in management. Employees mostly have both 
undergraduate and postgraduate qualifications. The 
Group has a reputation for innovation and the ability to 
solve problems and has key relationships with specific 
large corporate and institutional clients. It is important for 
a smaller group like Bravura Holdings to have “captive” 
customers as it does not have the capacity or distribution 
channels to market its products on a large scale. 

The Group is known for its expertise in specific sectors 
and has a footprint in different countries: Mauritius, South 
Africa, Namibia and Australia. This presence enables it to 
operate seamlessly across these borders in order to meet 
clients’ requirements.

In August 2016, African Rainbow Capital (ARC) acquired 
a 29.9% shareholding in the Company. ARC is a 99% 
B-BBEE accredited, African private equity fund, focussed 
on the South African and African financial services 
industry, and businesses that deliver exceptional 
returns on equity. ARC is a subsidiary of Ubuntu-Botho 
Investments Proprietary Limited, a broad-based black 
empowerment investment holding company. The ARC 
team members, including Patrice Motsepe, Johan van Zyl, 

former CEO of Sanlam, and Johan van der Merwe, former 
CEO of Sanlam Investments, hold a wealth of experience 
in the financial services industry and empowerment world.

ARC’s vision is to become a fully integrated diversified 
financial services business in South Africa by building 
strategic partnerships (through equity stakes) in various 
product providers and across a number of financial 
services pillars. Key to ARC’s investment strategy will be 
drawing on synergies and strategic relationships across 
portfolio companies. ARC is a strategic long-term investor 
with no predefined exit and can accelerate acquisitive 
growth through the provision of funding (or access to 
opportunities) where necessary. In its short history, ARC 
has already demonstrated its ability to put significant 
capital to work in highly attractive, proprietary investment 
opportunities having deployed more than ZAR 2 billion in 
capital since its establishment.

The ARC transaction marked a seminal moment in the 
evolution of Bravura Holdings. It was a real coup for 
the Group to be recognised for both our skills base and 
our growth potential. The ARC team members bring a 
wealth of experience in the financial services industry and 
empowerment world to the table, which they can leverage 
to create strong returns for shareholders.

The Group intends to grow its portfolio of assets, mainly 
through strategic investments into high quality financial 
services businesses, and the ARC investment provides a 
strong transaction pipeline and access to capital to grow 
the business through acquisitions as we further diversify 
into non-bank financial services, for example, alternative 
investment management, and trading and brokerage 
services. This growth will be complementary to our core 
corporate finance, structured solutions and property 
investment and advisory services.

Dear shareholders

This is the annual integrated report 
of Bravura Holdings and contains 
the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2017.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Kamal Taposeea
(Mauritian)

Chairman and  
non-executive director

LLB, LLM

Date of appointment:  
31 August 2015

As a lawyer with wide ranging 
experience in general 
banking, investment banking 
and financial services, Mr 
Taposeea holds non-executive 
directorship of various financial 
services companies and global 
funds, as well as the steel 
industry sector.

He served on the boards 
of Mauritius domestic 
listed companies and has 
underwritten businesses 
listed on the Mauritian Stock 
Exchange.

Ben Lim 
(Mauritian)

Non-executive director

FCA (England and Wales), 
TEP

Date of appointment: 
3 August 2015

Mr Lim is the CEO of 
Intercontinental Trust Ltd. He 
has been actively involved 
in the Mauritius international 
financial services sector since 
the early 1990s.

Mr Lim has played a decisive 
role in the Global Business 
legal and regulatory reform 
process in Mauritius, and 
is a board member of the 
Mauritius Institute of Directors, 
in addition to being a member 
of its Corporate Governance 
Committee.

Uday Gujadhur
(Mauritian)

Non-executive director

FCCA, Member of the 
Mauritius Institute of 
Directors

Date of appointment: 
31 August 2015

With over 30 years’ 
professional experience in the 
fields of auditing, taxation, 
consulting and offshore 
business, Mr Gujadhur has 
been involved in advising both 
local and international firms 
in various business sectors – 
including investment funds 
seeking listing on the Mauritius 
Stock Exchange.

He serves as an independent 
non-executive director of 
companies listed on the 
Development and Enterprise 
Market of the Mauritius Stock 
Exchange.

Kamben Padayachy  
(Mauritian)

Non-executive director

Master degree (Monetary 
Economics), post-graduate 
degree (Banking and Finance)

Date of appointment: 
1 January 2017

Mr Padayachy has over 20 
years’ experience in banking, 
having successively worked 
with BNP Paribas, Barclays 
Bank, Standard Bank and 
AfrAsia Bank Limited. He 
served on the board of 
directors at Gamma Civic, 
AfrAsia Corporate Finance and 
Lottotech.

He was previously employed 
as deputy chief executive 
officer by AfrAsia Bank.

Adie du Plessis 
(South African)

Executive director

B Acc, B Acc (Hons), M Com 
Tax, CA (SA)

Date of appointment: 
13 June 2016

Adie held numerous leadership 
positions within the ABSA 
and Nedcor Groups for the 
last 25 years. As a member 
of the ABSA executive team, 
responsible for the Specialised 
Finance and Specialised 
Funding Solutions divisions, 
Adie played a key role in the 
team responsible for ensuring 
ABSA Corporate and Business 
Bank reach growth rates of 
36% per annum over a four-
year period to 2011.

Before joining ABSA, he was 
one of the executive members 
of the investment banking 
division in the Nedcor Group 
for nearly 15 years.

Soria Hay
(South African)

Executive director

BLC, LLB (cum laude), LLM, 
Dip Labour Law (cum laude)

Date of appointment: 
13 June 2016

Soria leads the Corporate 
Finance team. She formed the 
Bravura group in 1999, at the 
age of 29. Prior to founding 
Bravura, she worked in the 
corporate finance team at 
Mettle, and practiced as an 
attorney at Van der Merwe,  
Du Toit.

Soria is passionate about 
client centric excellence, and 
uses her more than 20 years’ 
experience in Corporate 
Finance to deliver on innovative 
and robust solutions for clients.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS DURING THE YEAR 
UNDER REVIEW

Director Title1 Appointment 
date

Board Risk and 
Audit 
committee

Investment 
committee

Corporate 
Governance 
committee

Ben Lim NED 3 August 2015 4/5** 2/2 1/1 3/4**

Kamal Taposeea INED 31 August 2015 5/5* 5/5 1/1 -

Uday Gujadhur NED 31 August 2015 5/5 3/3 1/1 4/4*

Adie du Plessis ED 13 June 2016 5/5 - - -

Soria Hay ED 13 June 2016 4/5 - 1/1* -

Kamben Padayachy INED 1 January 2017 2/2 2/2* - -

Johan van der 
Merwe

NED 1 January 2017 – 
31 May 2017

1/2 - 0/1 0/1

Notes:

1 NED = Non-Executive Director; ED = Executive Director; INED – Independent Non-Executive Director.

* Denotes the current chairpersonship of board/committee indicated.

** For board meeting held on 22 March 2017, Mr Kesaven Moothoosamy was alternating for Mr York Shin Lim Voon Kee. 

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDING OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

At 31 March 2017 Direct 
holding

Indirect 
holding

Total  
shares held

Percentage of 
issued shares

Ben Lim - 42,853,481 42,853,481 13.37%

Kamal Taposeea - - - -

Uday Gujadhur - - - -

Adie du Plessis - - - -

Soria Hay - 18,746,137 18,746,137 5.85%

Kamben Padayachy - - - -

Johan van der Merwe - - - -

CORPORATE DIARY

Key events Date

Financial year end 31 March 2017

Publication of financial results FY 2017 on the SEM and NSX 21 June 2017

Distribution of annual integrated report and notice of Annual General Meeting 2015/16 16 September 2016

Annual General Meeting 2015/16 30 September 2016

FY 2018 first quarter end 30 June 2017

Announcement of FY 2018 first quarter results 3 August 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report on the financial statements of Bravura Holdings for the year ended 
31 March 2017.

1. NATURE OF THE BUSINESS 

Bravura Holdings is a Mauritian incorporated company, listed on the Official List of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius 
Limited with an inward listing on Namibia’s stock exchange. Bravura Holdings is an investment holding company and 
aims to invest through its subsidiaries in financial services. 

2. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in 
compliance with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. 

The operating results and state of affairs of the Group are fully set out in the attached financial statements and do not in 
our opinion require any further comment. 

The net loss of the Group was USD 1,658,678 (2016: profit USD 3,605,228) after taxation of USD 32,499 (2016: USD 5,565).

Registered office and business address
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity
Ebène 72201
Mauritius

Postal address
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity
Ebène 72201
Mauritius

3. GOING CONCERN 

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the 12-month period from the date of signature and, in 
the light of this view and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has or has access to adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence and as a going concern for the foreseeable future. 

4. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

There were no events after the reporting period. 

5. AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL 

During the year, shareholders approved an issue of shares amounting to 29.9% of the issued share capital, after such 
issue, in terms of a Black Economic Empowerment ownership transaction. On 12 August 2016, 95,850,423 shares were 
issued in terms of the Group’s Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) ownership transaction to African Rainbow Capital 
Proprietary Limited (ARC). This has resulted in an expense of USD 877,792 in the profit or loss for the year. The Board 
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of Directors believes that this strategic alliance with ARC will be beneficial for the Group and significantly enhance the 
Group’s ability to compete in the provision of advisory services and product offerings in the South African markets, 
through its subsidiaries. Details have been disclosed in note 12. 

6. DIVIDENDS 

No dividends were declared or paid to the shareholders during the period (2016: nil). 
 

7. DIRECTORS 

The directors of the Company during the period and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name Appointed date Resignation date

UK Gujadhur 31 August 2015

R Taposeea 31 August 2015

Ben Lim 3 August 2015

SM Hay 13 June 2016

AD du Plessis 13 June 2016

JHP van der Merwe 1 January 2017 31 May 2017

KP Padayachy 1 January 2017

8. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS 

No contracts were entered into in which directors or officers of the Group had an interest and which significantly 
affected the business of the Group. 

9. HOLDING COMPANY 

The Company’s holding company is CMB Investment Limited. 

10. AUDITORS 

KPMG will continue in office as auditors. 

11. SECRETARY 

Intercontinental Trust Limited served as secretary during the period and at the date of this report. 

12. GENERAL 

These financial statements have been audited by our external auditors, KPMG. The financial statements were prepared 
under the direct supervision and direction of the directors of Bravura Holdings.

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS

The register of substantial shareholders as at 31 August 2017 shows the following shareholders:

Name of investor Address of investor Date of entry No. of 
ordinary 

shares held

% share-
holding

CMB Investment 
Limited

Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, 
Ebène, Mauritius

3 August 2015 114,952,080 44.56

Alistra Proprietary 
Limited

Unit 4, 32 Schanzen Street, Windhoek, 
Namibia

25 January 2016 18,746,137 5.85

Seistra Proprietary 
Limited 

Unit 4, 32 Schanzen Street, Windhoek, 
Namibia

25 January 2016 18,746,137 5.85

Titan Rand 
Proprietary Limited

36 Stellenberg Road, Parow Industria, 
Cape Town, South Africa

25 January 2016 44,236,043 13.8

African Rainbow 
Capital Proprietary 
Limited

1st Floor, Marsh Building, Cnr Fredman 
and 5th Streets, Sandton, South Africa

12 August 2016 95,850,423 29.9

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for:
1. Adequate reporting records and maintenance of effective internal control systems; 
2.  The preparation of financial statements which fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the 

financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for that year, and which comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in compliance with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001; and 

3.  The selection of appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements. 

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented.

The Directors report that:
1.  Adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal controls and risk management have been 

maintained; 
2.  Appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have been 

used consistently; 
3.  International Financial Reporting Standards have been adhered to. Any departure in the interest of fair 

presentation has been disclosed, explained and quantified; and 
4.  The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the 12-month period from the date of signature 

and, in the light of this view and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has or has access 
to adequate resources to continue in operational existence and as a going concern for the foreseeable future.

Director Director

SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE

We certify to the best of our knowledge and belief that we have filed with the Registrar of Companies all such returns  
as are required of Bravura Holdings Limited under the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 for the financial year ended  
31 March 2017.

For Intercontinental Trust Limited
Corporate Secretary

Date: 21 June 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF BRAVURA HOLDINGS LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bravura Holdings Limited (the Group), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, as set out on pages 22 to 69.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of Bravura Holdings Limited as at 31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the 
requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF BRAVURA HOLDINGS LIMITED (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF BRAVURA HOLDINGS LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Impairment of Goodwill 
Refer to Notes 3.5 and 7 to the financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has recognised goodwill amounting to            
USD 30,280,698 at year end, which is required to be 
assessed for impairment on an annual basis.

Management apply significant judgement in their 
assessment of the impairment of the goodwill, particularly 
in determining the assumptions to be used to estimate 
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit 
(CGU), which is based on the higher of the value in use 
or fair value less costs to sell. The value in use has been 
derived from discounted forecast cash flow models. 
These models use several key assumptions, including 
estimates of future EBITDA (Earnings before Interest Tax 
Depreciation and Amortisation) and the EBITDA growth 
rate, terminal value growth rates and discount rate.

The annual impairment testing of goodwill is considered 
to be a key audit matter due to the significant judgements 
required by management.

Our audit procedures in this area included among others:

•  Inspecting management’s forecasts and projections 
of the cash flows of the CGU and evaluating the 
appropriateness of the assumptions applied to key 
inputs such as EBITDA growth rate, total costs, terminal 
growth, inflation rates and the discount rate, which 
included comparing these inputs with externally derived 
data, as well as our own assessments based on our 
knowledge of the client and the industry.

•  Performing our own sensitivity analysis, which included 
assessing the effect of reasonably possible reductions 
in growth rates and forecast cash flows to evaluate the 
possible impact on the recoverable amount of the CGU.

•  Evaluating the adequacy of the financial statement 
disclosures, including disclosures of key assumptions, 
judgements and sensitivities.

Valuation of the Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) ownership transaction
Refer to Notes 3.10 and 12.3 to the financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

During the year, Bravura Holdings Limited entered into a 
BEE ownership transaction with African Rainbow Capital 
Proprietary Limited (ARC). As a result of this transaction, 
the Group has recognised a reserve amounting to USD 
877,792 as part of the other components of equity in the 
consolidated financial statements. This amount relates to 
the fair value of the BEE credentials recognised during  
the year.

The valuation of the BEE credentials uses several key 
assumptions, including fair value of the Group before the 
transaction, lock-in discount related to the limitation on 
transferability, preference share financing reference rate, 
transaction fee saving, Group’s cost of equity and the 
maturity date of the preference shares.

The valuation of the BEE ownership transaction is 
considered to be a key audit matter based on the 
significant judgement required in determining the 
assumptions and inputs to be used to estimate the fair 
value of the BEE credentials received as part of the 
transaction.

Our audit procedures in this area included among others:

•  Recalculating the benefit expected to be received by 
the Group from the BEE credentials and evaluating the 
appropriateness to key inputs such as fair value of the 
Group before the transaction, lock-in discount related 
to the limitation on transferability, preference share 
financing reference rate, transaction fee saving, Group’s 
cost of equity and the maturity date of preference 
shares.

•  Independently evaluating the reasonableness of some 
of the key inputs in relation to market data.

•  Evaluating the adequacy of the accounting treatment 
and financial statement disclosures, including 
disclosures of key assumptions and judgements, with 
the assistance of the technical accounting specialists on 
our audit team.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the General Information, 
Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval, Directors’ Report and Secretary’s Certificate, which we obtained prior to the 
date of the auditors’ report, and the rest of the annual report, which is expected to be made available to us after that 
date. The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date of this 
auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius 
Companies Act, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

OTHER MATTER

This report is made solely to Bravura Holdings Limited’s (the Company’s) members, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 205 of the Mauritius Companies Act. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Company’s members, as a body, those matters that we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

MAURITIUS COMPANIES ACT 

We have no relationship with or interests in the Group other than in our capacity as auditors.

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our examination of 
those records.

KPMG Wayne Pretorius
Ebène, Mauritius Licensed by FRC

Date: 21 June 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF BRAVURA HOLDINGS LIMITED (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF BRAVURA HOLDINGS LIMITED (CONTINUED)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Notes 31 March 2017
USD

31 March 2016
USD

Assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 195 998 180 444
Intangible assets and goodwill 7 30 343 694 27 346 249
Other financial assets 8 2 088 031 874 854
Deferred taxation 9 103 669 116 934

32 731 392 28 518 481
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 10 3 570 987 1 929 472
Cash and cash equivalents 11 2 068 717 600 442

5 639 704 2 529 914

Total assets 38 371 096 31 048 395

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 12.1 26 956 642 21 286 577
Foreign exchange translation reserve 12.2 2 504 726 (346 529)
Retained earnings 1 946 549 3 640 851
Other components of equity 12.3 4 019 733 -

35 427 650 24 580 899
Non-controlling interest - (35 623)

35 427 650 24 545 276
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other financial liabilities 13 2 400 228 5 955 563

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 542 678 527 679
Current tax liabilities 20 540 19 877

543 218 547 556

Total liabilities 2 943 446 6 503 119

Total equity and liabilities 38 371 096 31 048 395

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Director Director

The notes on pages 26 to 69 are an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes 12 months
ended 31 March

2017
USD

8 months  
ended 31 March

2016
USD

Revenue 15 6 779 455 4 359 870

Other income 16 - 511 516

Gain on bargain purchase 24 - 1 002 315

Other expenses 19 (8 469 274) (2 292 592)

Operating (loss)/income (1 689 819) 3 581 109

Finance income 17 158 216 66 375

Finance costs 18 (94 577) (47 821)

(Loss)/income before taxation (1 626 180) 3 599 663

Taxation 20 (32 499) 5 565

(Loss)/profit for the year/period (1 658 679) 3 605 228

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation differences on translation from ZAR 
to USD

2 854 290 (351 703)

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation differences of foreign subsidiaries 
from local currency to ZAR

(3 035) 5 174

Total comprehensive income for the year/period 1 192 576 3 258 699

(Loss)/profit for the year/period attributable to:

Owners of the Company (1 658 679) 3 640 851

Non-controlling interest - (35 623)

(1 658 679) 3 605 228

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 1 192 576 3 294 322

Non-controlling interest - (35 623)

1 192 576 3 258 699

(Loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (USD) 21 (0.0058) 0.0269

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (USD) 21 (0.0058) 0.0234

The notes on pages 26 to 69 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes 12 months
ended 31 March

2017
USD

8 months 
ended 31 March

2016
USD

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 22 (1 961 863) 2 190 633

Finance income 17 158 216 66 375

Finance costs 18 (94 577) (47 821)

Taxation paid 20 (28 359) (8 407)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (1 926 583) 2 200 780

Cash flow from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 24 (215 469) (17 268 362)

Acquisition of intangible assets (95 263) -

Disposal of intangible assets 34 720

Acquisition of other financial assets (1 502 541) -

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (83 260) -

Net cash used in investing activities (1 861 813) (17 268 362)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares 4 976 486 13 540 483

Proceeds from the issue of preference shares 693 579

Loans (repaid to)/advanced by related parties (413 394) 2 127 541

Net cash from financing activities 5 256 671 15 668 024

Total cash and cash equivalents movement for the year/period 1 468 275 600 442

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/period 600 442 -

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year/period 11 2 068 717 600 442

The notes on pages 26 to 69 are an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share 
capital

USD

Foreign 
exchange 

translation 
reserve

USD

Retained 
earnings

USD

Other 
compo-
nents of 

equity
USD

Total

USD

Non-
controlling 

interest

USD

Total equity

USD

Balance at 3 August 2015 - - - - - - -

Transactions with owners of 
the Company

Ordinary shares issued 21 279 835 - - - 21 279 835 - 21 279 835

Preference shares issued 6 742 - - - 6 742 - 6 742

Total transactions with 
owners of the Company

21 286 577 - - - 21 286 577 - 21 286 577

Total comprehensive income

Profit for the period - - 3 640 851 - 3 640 851 (35 623) 3 605 228

Other comprehensive 
income

- (346 529) - - (346 529) - (346 529)

Total comprehensive 
income

- (346 529) 3 640 851 - 3 294 322 (35 623) 3 258 699

Balance at 31 March 2016 21 286 577 (346 529) 3 640 851 - 24 580 899 (35 623) 24 545 276

Transactions with owners of 
the Company

Ordinary shares issued 505 880 - - - 505 880 - 505 880

Issue of shares in terms of 
BEE scheme

4 470 606 4 470 606 4 470 606

Preference shares issued 693 579 - - - 693 579 - 693 579

Charges for the year - - - 4 019 733 4 019 733 - 4 019 733

Change in ownership

Loss of control - - (35 623) - (35 623) 35 623 -

Total transactions with 
owners of the Company

5 670 065 - (35 623) 4 019 733 9 654 175 - 9 689 798

Total comprehensive income

Loss for the year - - (1 658 679) - (1 658 679) - (1 658 679)

Other comprehensive 
income

- 2 851 255 - - 2 851 255 - 2 851 255

Total comprehensive 
income

- 2 851 255 (1 658 679) - 1 192 576 - 1 192 576

Balance at 31 March 2017 26 956 642 2 504 726 1 946 549 4 019 733 35 427 650 - 35 427 650

The notes on pages 26 to 69 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Bravura Holdings Limited is domiciled in Mauritius. The Company’s registered office is c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, 
Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201, Mauritius. These consolidated financial statements comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group). The Group is primarily involved in financial services.

2. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The assets and liabilities of the Group and the cash flows are predominantly South African Rand (ZAR) denominated.  
The Group’s performance is evaluated in Rand. Therefore management considers Rand as the currency that most 
faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. Therefore the Group’s 
functional currency is Rand. These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (USD). All 
amounts have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise indicated.

3. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the Mauritius Companies Act. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except where 
otherwise stated, and incorporate the principal accounting policies as set out below. They are presented in US Dollars.

3.1 JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Significant judgements include:

Going concern
The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied 
that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not 
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Therefore, the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

Taxation
The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred 
income tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 
Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing 
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, 
the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be 
impacted.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
at the end of each reporting period.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair 
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques 
as follows:
• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
•  Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, 
then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest 
level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:
Note 6 – Financial Instruments: Accounting classification and fair value
Note 7 – Impairment of goodwill
Note 8 – Other financial assets
Note 12 – Share capital: Employee reward scheme and BEE ownership reserve
Note 13 – Other financial liabilities

Impairment of goodwill – Refer note 3.5 

Impairment of financial assets – Refer note 3.6

Residual values and useful lives of assets
Residual values and useful lives of tangible assets are assessed on an annual basis. Estimates and judgements in this 
regard are based on the historical experience and expectations of the manner in which the assets are to be used, 
together with the expected proceeds likely to be realised when the assets are disposed at the end of their useful lives. 
Such expectations could change over time and, therefore, impact both the depreciation charges and carrying values of 
tangible assets in the future.
 

3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

i. Business combinations 
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group. 
The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets 
acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in 
profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expenses as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity 
securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If an obligation to pay contingent 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each 
reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

ii. Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on 
which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

iii. Non-controlling interests (NCI) 
NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions.

iv. Loss of control 
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any 
related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest 
retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

v. Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

vi. Interests in equity-accounted investees 
The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the 
financial and operating policies. Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially 
recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (OCI) of equity accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence ceases.

3.3 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and 
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses except for artwork which is carried at the revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which 
would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised to other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the revaluation surplus in equity. The increase is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. Any decrease in an asset’s carrying 
amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in profit or loss in the current period. The decrease is recognised in 
other comprehensive income to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that 
asset. The decrease recognised in other comprehensive income reduces the amount accumulated in the revaluation 
surplus in equity.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly 
to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised. The amount transferred is equal to the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount and depreciation based on the original cost of the asset. Transfers 
from revaluation surplus to retained earnings are not made through profit or loss.
 
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows: 

Item Useful life
Computer equipment 3 years
Furniture and fittings 5-6 years
Leasehold improvements Duration remaining in lease
Office equipment 3 years
Artwork Not depreciated

Artwork is not depreciated as its value increases over time. The entity engages independent valuation specialists, every 
three years, to determine the fair value of the artworks.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset is reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or 
loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the 
item. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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3.4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An intangible asset is recognised when:
•  it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; 

and 
• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every year-end and adjusted if 
appropriate.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life
Computer software 3 years
Goodwill Not amortised
Brand names and other intangibles 3 years

Goodwill on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.5 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is 
tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units (CGUs). Goodwill 
arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value 
in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification
The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
• Loans and receivables 
• Financial assets at fair value – designated 
• Available-for-sale financial assets 
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at 
initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.
 
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the 
instrument except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value being included in profit or loss for the period.

Available-for-sale financial assets, subsequent to initial recognition are measured at fair value and changes therein, other 
than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on debt instruments, are recognised in OCI and accumulated in 
the fair value reserve.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. The Group derecognises a 
financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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Fair value determination
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and 
for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, 
external market participant willingness, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as 
little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses financial assets not classified as at fair value through profit or loss to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the Group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
The Group considers evidence of impairment for these assets at both an individual asset and a collective level. All 
individually significant assets are individually assessed for impairment. Those found not to be impaired are then 
collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet individually identified. Assets that are 
not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment. Collective assessment is carried out by grouping 
together assets with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveries and the amount 
of loss incurred, and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are 
likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

Available-for-sale financial assets:
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair 
value reserve to profit or loss. The amount reclassified is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal 
repayment and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
 
Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the 
financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit 
or loss within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write-off is made against the relevant allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in 
profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments 
(more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against 
the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against operating expenses in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These 
are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.
 

3.7 TAXATION

Current income tax assets and liabilities
Current income tax for the current period is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in 
respect of the current period exceeds the amount due for the period, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current income tax liabilities/assets for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment for prior period taxes.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax 
liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/tax loss.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not 
recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/tax loss. Deferred tax is also not recognised on 
temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

Income tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except 
to the extent that the tax arises from:
• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or 
• a business combination. 

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or 
charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

3.8 LEASES

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease 
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset. This liability is not discounted.
 

3.9 SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY

i. Ordinary shares 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a 
deduction from equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for in accordance 
with IAS 12.

ii. Preference shares 
The Group’s non-redeemable preference shares are classified as equity, because they bear discretionary dividends, do 
not contain any obligations to deliver cash or other financial assets and do not require settlement in a variable number 
of the Group’s equity instruments. Discretionary dividends thereon are recognised as equity distributions on approval by 
the Group’s shareholders.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 
vacation leave and sick leave, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care, are recognised in the period in which 
the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that 
increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination 
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees according to 
a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made 
to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are 
discounted to their present value.

Employee reward scheme
Share options and appreciation rights are granted to employees in terms of the share scheme. The grant-date fair value 
of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to employees is generally recognised as an expense, 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense 
is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are 
expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the 
related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with 
non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and 
there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.The net cost of share options, calculated as 
the difference between the fair value of such options at grant date and the price at which the options were granted are 
expensed over their vesting periods on a straight-line basis. The fair value of the share options is measured using the 
Black-Scholes pricing model. These share options are not subsequently revalued.

Black Economic Empowerment Ownership scheme (BEE)
In terms of the BEE ownership scheme, the BEE party subscribed for equity instruments in the Group at a discount to fair 
value. The difference between the fair value of the equity instruments granted and the fair value of the cash and other 
assets received, i.e. the BEE equity credentials, should be recognised as an expense. The fair value of equity-settled 
share-based payments should be determined at the grant date, and expensed over the period of vesting. If there is no 
vesting period the total fair value should be expensed immediately.
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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3.11 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:
• the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event; 
•  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and 
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. 

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the 
entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

3.12 REVENUE

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the statement of financial 
position date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; 
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the statement of financial position date can be measured reliably; and 
• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue shall be 
recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as 
described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the 
type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable is 
impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow 
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount as interest 
income. Interest income on impaired loans are recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.13 TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

Functional and presentation currency
The assets and liabilities of the Group and the cash flows are predominantly ZAR denominated. The Group’s 
performance is evaluated in ZAR. Therefore management considers ZAR as the currency that most faithfully represents 
the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. Therefore the Company’s functional currency 
is the ZAR and most of the subsidiaries’ functional currency is equally ZAR.

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are presented in USD (“the presentation currency”).

Assets and liabilities for the statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of 
that statement of financial position. Income and expenses for the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions, and all resulting exchange differences are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Foreign currency transactions
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount 
the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:
• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate; 
•  non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and 
•  non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different 
from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, 
any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. 
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign liabilities, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions, are 
translated into Rands at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated into Rands at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the extent that 
the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

4.1 EFFECTIVE STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

All new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which were adopted for the financial year ended  
31 March 2017 had no material effect on the financial statements.

4.2 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and 
are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or later periods:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
This new standard is the first phase of a three-phase project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. To date, the standard includes chapters for classification, measurement and derecognition of financial 
assets and liabilities. The following are main changes from IAS 39:
• Financial assets will be categorised as those subsequently measured at fair value or at amortised cost. 
•  Financial assets at amortised cost are those financial assets where the business model for managing the assets 

is to hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows (where the contractual cash flows represent payments of 
principal and interest only). All other financial assets are to be subsequently measured at fair value. 

• Under certain circumstances, financial assets may be designated as at fair value. 
•  For hybrid contracts, where the host contract is an asset within the scope of IFRS 9, then the whole instrument is 

classified in accordance with IFRS 9, without separation of the embedded derivative. In other circumstances, the 
provisions of IAS 39 still apply. 

•  Voluntary reclassification of financial assets is prohibited. Financial assets shall be reclassified if the entity changes 
its business model for the management of financial assets. In such circumstances, reclassification takes place 
prospectively from the beginning of the first reporting period after the date of change of the business model. 

•  Investments in equity instruments may be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. When 
such an election is made, it may not subsequently be revoked, and gains or losses accumulated in equity are 
not recycled to profit or loss on derecognition of the investment. The election may be made per individual 
investment. 

• IFRS 9 does not allow for investments in equity instruments to be measured at cost. 
• Financial liabilities shall not be reclassified. 
•  The classification categories for financial liabilities remain unchanged. However, where a financial liability is 

designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the change in fair value attributable to changes in the liabilities’ 
credit risk shall be presented in other comprehensive income. This excludes situations where such presentation 
will create or enlarge an accounting mismatch, in which case, the full fair value adjustment shall be recognised in 
profit or loss. 

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the first annual financial period after the effective date.

The Group is assessing the potential impact on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the application of 
IFRS 9.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)
The amendments provide for disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flow and non-cash changes. This includes 
providing a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from financing activities.

The amendments apply for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 12)
The amendments provide additional guidance on the existence of deductible temporary differences, which depend 
solely on a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the reporting period, and is not 
affected by possible future changes in the carrying amount or expected manner of recovery of the asset.

The amendments also provide additional guidance on the methods used to calculate future taxable profit to establish 
whether a deferred tax asset can be recognised.

The amendments apply for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts; IAS 18 Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 
15 Agreements for the construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 Revenue - 
Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:
• Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
• Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
• Determine the transaction price 
• Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
• Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure requirements.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the first annual financial period after the effective date.

The Group is still in the process of determining the impact of the new standard on its consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Clarifying share-based payment accounting (Amendments to IFRS 2)
Currently, there is ambiguity over how a company should account for certain types of share-based payment 
arrangements. The IASB has responded by publishing amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment.

The amendments cover three accounting areas:
•  Measurement of cash-settled share-based payments – The new requirements do not change the cumulative 

amount of expense that is ultimately recognised, because the total consideration for a cash-settled share-based 
payment is still equal to the cash paid on settlement. 

•  Classification of share-based payments settled net of tax withholdings – The amendments introduce an exception 
stating that, for classification purposes, a share-based payment transaction with employees is accounted for as 
equity-settled if certain criteria are met. 

•  Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment from cash-settled to equity-settled – The amendments 
clarify the approach that companies are to apply. 

The new requirements could affect the classification and/or measurement of these arrangements – and potentially the 
timing and amount of expense recognised for new and outstanding awards.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the first annual financial period after the effective date.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 was published in January 2016. It sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (lessee) and the supplier (lessor). IFRS 16 replaces 
the previous leases Standard, IAS 17 Leases, and related interpretations. IFRS 16 has one model for lessees which 
will result in almost all leases being included on the statement of financial position. No significant changes have been 
included for lessors.

The Group has begun assessing the potential impact on the financial statements resulting from the application.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted only if 
the entity also adopts IFRS 15. The transitional requirements are different for lessees and lessors.

The Group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the first annual financial period after the effective date.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: Liquidity risk, market risk and credit risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out under policies 
approved by the directors.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i. Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash balances, the availability of funding through 
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out positions and asset-liability management. The Group manages 
liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in 
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than  
1 year

Between 1 and 
5 years

Over  
5 years

Total

Year ended 31 March 2017

Trade payables 367 824 - - 367 824

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 2 400 228 - 2 400 228

367 824 2 400 228 - 2 768 052

Less than  
1 year

Between 1 and 
5 years

Over  
5 years

Total

Period ended 31 March 2016

Trade payables 464 386 - - 464 386

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 3 139 476 - 3 139 476

Other financial liabilities at fair value - 2 816 087 - 2 816 087

464 386 5 955 563 - 6 419 949

ii. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the 
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank balances and long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates 
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rate, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax, and the Group’s equity. Two per cent is the sensitivity rate used 
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of 
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.



Bravura Holdings Annual Integrated Report 2016/17 Bravura Holdings Annual Integrated Report 2016/17

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Change in rate Effect on profit 
before tax

Effect on equity

Year ended 31 March 2017

Increase in interest rate -2% (48 005) (48 005)

Decrease in interest rate +2% 48 005 48 005

Change in rate Effect on profit 
before tax

Effect on equity

Period ended 31 March 2016

Increase in interest rate -2% (62 790) (62 790)

Decrease in interest rate +2% 62 790 62 790

Currency risk
The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than its reporting currency, the USD. Consequently, 
the Group is exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of the USD relative to these currencies may change in a 
manner which has an adverse effect on the reported value of that portion of the Group’s assets and liabilities which are 
denominated in these currencies.

The Company does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

Exposure to currency risk:
The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management of the 
Group is as follows:

2017 2016

Assets

Trade and other receivables, ZAR 32,423,792 (2016: ZAR 26,464,370) 2 415 900 1 784 149

Trade and other receivables, AUD 332,251 (2016: AUD 173,797) 254 335 -

Other financial assets, NAD 11,241,658 (2016: nil) 837 617 -

Other financial assets, ZAR 16,781,809 (2016: ZAR 12,976,798) 1 250 414 874 857

Liabilities

Other financial liabilities, NAD 1,528,930 (2016: nil) 113 921 -

Other financial liabilities, ZAR 4,973,957 (2016: ZAR 56,781,436) 370 610 3 828 035

Trade and other payables, AUD 89,977 (2016: nil) 68 786 -

Trade and other payables, ZAR 4,878,995 (2016: ZAR 4,582,972) 363 534 308 970

Trade and other payables, NAD 506,640 (2016: nil) 37 750 -

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

2017 2016

AUD 1,3081 1,3064

ZAR 13,4210 14,8331

NAD 13,4210 14,8331

MAU 33,8853 34,1079

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the ZAR exchange rate, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax, and the Group’s equity. Ten per cent is the sensitivity rate used 
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign 
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign 
currency rates. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any 
impact of other variables.

Change in rate Effect on loss 
before tax

Effect on equity

Year ended 31 March 2017

Depreciation of AUD -10% (1 578) (1 578)

Appreciation of AUD +10% 1 578 1 578

Depreciation of USD -10% (132 135) (132 135)

Appreciation of USD +10% 132 135 132 135

Change in rate Effect on profit 
before tax

Effect on equity

Period ended 31 March 2016

Depreciation of AUD -10% (2 920) (2 920)

Appreciation of AUD +10% 2 920 2 920

Depreciation of USD -10% (279 454) (279 454)

Appreciation of USD +10% 279 454 279 454
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iii. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investment in debt 
securities.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, loans to related parties and trade debtors.

The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-
party. Management continuously assesses the credit risk of loans to related parties through its representation on the 
respective boards. Loans to related parties are within their mandated terms.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the fact that the Group deals with a 
number of reputable clients and group debtors, who are financially secure, and who operate in a variety of industries. 
Management evaluate credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis.

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at period end were as follows:  

2017 2016

Financial instrument

Other financial assets at fair value - 368 595

Trade and other receivables 3 570 987 1 929 472

Cash and cash equivalents 2 068 717 600 442

5 639 704 2 898 509

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATION AND FAIR VALUE 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their 
levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Year ended  
31 March 2017

Note Carrying amount Fair value

Desig-
nated at 

fair value

Available 
for sale

Loans and 
receiva-

bles

Other 
financial 

liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 3 Total

Financial assets 
measured at fair 
value

Unlisted equity 
investments

8 - 781 128 - - 781 128 - 781 128 781 128

Investment in 
trust

8 - 837 617 - - 837 617 - 837 617 837 617

Listed equity 
investments

8 - 469 286 - - 469 286 - 469 286 469 286

- 2 088 031 - - 2 088 031

Financial assets 
not measured at 
fair value

Trade and other 
receivables

10 - - 3 570 987 - 3 570 987

Cash and cash 
equivalents

11 - - 2 068 717 - 2 068 717

- - 5 639 704 - 5 639 704

Financial 
liabilities not 
measured at fair 
value

Unsecured loans 13 - - - 2 400 228 2 400 228
Charges for the 
year

14 - - - 367 824 367 824

- - - 2 768 053 2 768 053

Reconciliation 
of level 3 fair 
values

Call 
option 

asset

Unlisted 
equity 
invest-
ments

Invest-
ment in 

trust

Listed 
equity 
invest-
ments

Total

Opening balance 368 595 506 259 - - 874 854
Additions - 219 401 837 617 469 286 1 526 304
Impairment (405 110) - - - (405 110)
Exchange gains 36 515 55 468 - - 91 983
Closing balance - 781 128 837 617 469 286 2 088 031
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6.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATION AND FAIR VALUE 
(CONTINUED)

Year ended  
31 March 2016

Note Carrying amount Fair value

Desig-
nated at 

fair value

Available 
for sale

Loans and 
receiva-

bles

Other 
financial 

liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 3 Total

Financial assets 
measured at fair 
value

Call option asset 8 368 595 - - - 368 595 - 368 595 368 595
Unlisted equity 
investments

8 - 506 259 - - 506 259 - 506 259 506 259

368 595 506 259 - - 874 854

Financial assets 
not measured at 
fair value

Trade and other 
receivables

10 - - 1 929 472 - 1 929 472

Cash and cash 
equivalents

11 - - 600 442 - 600 442

- - 2 529 914 - 2 529 914

Financial 
liabilities 
measured at fair 
value

Employee 
reward scheme

13 2 816 087 - - - 2 816 087

2 816 087 - - - 2 816 087

Financial 
liabilities not 
measured at fair 
value

Unsecured loans 13 - - - 3 139 476 3 139 476
Trade payables 14 - - - 449 177 449 177

- - - 3 588 653 3 588 653

Reconciliation 
of level 3 fair 
values

Call 
option 

asset

Unlisted 
equity 
invest-
ments

Total

Opening balance - - -
Additions 368 595 506 259 874 854
Closing balance 368 595 506 259 874 854

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 

2017 2016

Cost Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Cost Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Goodwill 30 280 698 - 30 280 698 27 323 779 - 27 323 779

Brand names and other 
intangibles

14 461 (3 365) 11 096 16 948 (211) 16 737

Computer software 73 335 (21 435) 51 900 5 983 (250) 5 733

30 368 494 (24 800) 30 343 694 27 346 710 (461) 27 346 249

Reconciliation of intangible 
assets – March 2017

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Amortisation Exchange 
differences

Closing 
balance

Goodwill 27 323 779 97 425 - - 2 859 494 30 280 698

Brand names and other 
intangibles

16 737 31 075 (34 720) (3 154) 1 158 11 096

Computer software 5 733 64 188 - (21 185) 3 164 51 900

27 346 249 192 688 (34 720) (24 339) 2 863 816 30 343 694

Reconciliation of intangible 
assets – March 2016

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Amortisation Impairment Closing 
balance

Goodwill - 27 323 779 - - - 27 323 779

Brand names and other 
intangibles

- 16 948 - (211) - 16 737

Computer software - 5 983 - (250) - 5 733

- 27 346 710 - (461) - 27 346 249

Amortisation is included in other expenses; refer to note 19.       

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s CGUs. 2017 2016
 30 280 698 27 323 779

The recoverable amount of this CGUs was based on its value in use, determined by discounting the future cash flows to 
be generated from the continuing use of the CGUs. The carrying amount of the CGUs was determined to be lower than 
its recoverable amount and not impaired (2016: nil).

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows:  
Discount rate 18.48% 18.80%
Terminal value growth rate 8.00% 8.00%
Budgeted EBITDA growth rate (average of next three years) 10.00% 10.00%

The discount rate was a pre-tax measure based on the rate of 10-year government bonds issued by the government in 
the relevant market and in the same currency as the cash flows, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect both the increased 
risk of investing in equities generally and the systematic risk of the specific CGUs.

Three years of cash flows were included in the discounted cash flow model. A long-term growth rate into perpetuity has 
been determined as the lower of the nominal gross domestic product (GDP) rates for the countries in which the CGUs 
operate and the long-term compound annual EBITDA growth rate estimated by management.

Budgeted EBITDA was based on expectations of future outcomes taking into account past experience, adjusted for 
anticipated revenue growth.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

8. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2017 2016

At fair value through profit or loss

Call option asset - 368 595

On 31 March 2016, the Group was granted a call option by Imatree 
Investments Limited to acquire 256,000 ordinary shares in Mainland Real 
Estate Limited (Mainland), at a strike price of GPB 1 per share.

The Group has indicated that the call option will not be executed.

Available for sale

Unlisted equity investments 781 128 506 259

The investments comprise ‘C’ class ordinary shares issued by unlisted 
external entities. There has been no fair value adjustments during the year 
as the fair value equals the market value of the underlying entity and no 
changes have been recorded.

Investment in trust 837 617 -

Starting Right Investments 286 Proprietary Limited is the vested beneficiary 
of the income of Mopane Investment Trust. There have been no fair value 
adjustments during the year as the fair value equals the market value of the 
underlying entity and no changes have been recorded.

Listed equity investments 469 286 -

The investment comprises of shares listed on the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange. There has been no fair value adjustments during the year.

2 088 031 874 854

Non-current assets

Call option asset - 368 595

Unlisted equity investments 781 128 506 259

Investment in trust 837 617 -

Listed equity investments 469 286 -

2 088 031 874 854

Currencies

Other financial assets are denominated in the following currencies:

NAD 11 241 658 -

ZAR 16 781 809 12 976 798
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The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring the Level 3 fair values, as well as the significant 
unobservable inputs used.

Financial instruments 
measured at fair value

Valuation technique and unobservable 
inputs

Fair value as at 
31 March 2017

Fair value as at 
31 March 2016

Call option asset Market value of the underlying entity:  
The valuation model is based on the 
net asset value of the underlying entity. 
Significant unobservable inputs are therefore 
not applicable.

- 368 595

Listed equity investments Market value of the underlying entity:  
The valuation model is based on the 
net asset value of the underlying entity. 
Significant unobservable inputs are therefore 
not applicable.

469 286 -

Investment in trust Market value of the underlying entity:  
The valuation model is based on the 
net asset value of the underlying entity. 
Significant unobservable inputs are therefore 
not applicable.

837 617 -

Unlisted equity 
investments

Market value of the underlying entity:  
The valuation model is based on the 
net asset value of the underlying entity. 
Significant unobservable inputs are therefore 
not applicable.

781 128 506 259

9. DEFERRED TAXATION

2017 2016

Opening balance from the previous year 116 934 -

Deferred taxation asset acquired as part of business combination - 83 085

Exchange gains 12 303 -

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (25 568) 33 849

103 669 116 934

Reconciliation of deferred tax (liability)/asset

(Decrease)/increase in tax losses available for set off against future taxable 
income

(25 568) 33 849

(25 568) 33 849

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Recognition of deferred tax asset
An entity shall disclose the amount of a deferred tax asset and the nature of the evidence supporting its recognition, 
when:
•  the utilisation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the profits arising from 

the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences; and 
•  the entity has suffered a loss in either the current or preceding period in the tax jurisdiction to which the deferred 

tax asset relates. 

The effective tax rate used for the recognition of these deferred tax assets is 28% in terms of the South African income 
tax rate.

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

2017 2016

Loans receivable 1 663 240 -

Trade receivables 1 420 011 1 844 111

Prepayments 20 303 10 494

Other receivables 181 315 74 867

Accrued income 517 100 -

Provision for bad debt (230 982) -

3 570 987 1 929 472

Loans receivable

Divergent Real Estate Proprietary Limited 782 478 -

Provision for bad debt (230 982) -

551 496 -

The loan is unsecured, has no fixed terms of repayment and bears interest 
at the prime overdraft rate. The loan is expected to be recalled in the 
next year. A provision has been raised for a portion of the loan, which is 
deemed not to be recoverable.

Imatree Investments Limited 880 762 -

The loan is secured, carries interest at 1.25% above US Prime Rate 
(currently at 4% as from 16 March 2017 and previously at 3.5%) and is 
repayable on 30 June 2017. Imatree has pledged and ceded as security 
the 591,100 ordinary shares in the issued share capital of Mainland Real 
Estate Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (SEM) 
and the Alternative Exchange of the JSE Limited (AltX).
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2017 2016

Trade receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not 
considered to be impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

1 month past due 1 274 546 1 780 663

2 months past due 2 548 48 811

3 months and longer past due 142 917 14 637

1 420 010 1 844 111

Currencies

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables are denominated in the 
following currencies:

USD 901 085 10 494

ZAR 32 423 792 26 464 370

AUD 332 251 173 397

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

2017 2016

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 1 979 779 577 420

Cash on hand 3 443 909

Deposits 85 495 22 113

2 068 717 600 442

 

Currencies

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the 
following currencies:

USD 54 172 26 970

ZAR 14 853 420 7 388 572

AUD 53 696 97 088

NAD 11 632 853 548

 

12. EQUITY

12.1 SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016

Issued

320,569,976 (2016: 217,133,152) ordinary shares of no par value 26 256 321 21 279 835

71,399 (2016: 62,100) preference shares 700 321 6 742

26 956 642 21 286 577

Reconciliation of number of ordinary shares issued:

Reported as at 1 April 217 133 152 -

Issue of shares 103 436 824 217 133 152

320 569 976 217 133 152

Reconciliation of number of preference shares issued:

Reported as at 1 April 62 100 -

Issue of shares 9 299 62 100

71 399 62 100

Ordinary share capital
Each ordinary share confers on the holder:
a) the right to vote at meetings of shareholders and on a poll to cast one vote for each share held; 
b)  subject to the rights of any other class of shares, the right to an equal share in dividends and other distributions 

made by the Group; and 
c)  subject to the rights of any other class of shares, the right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus 

assets of the Group on its liquidation. 

Preference share capital
The Group has 71,399 redeemable non-participating no par value preference shares. The Group issued 9,299 redeemable 
non-participating no par value preference shares to Mainland Real Estate Limited on 19 January 2017. The dividend rate 
for the preference shares are set at 70% of the prime rate, being a nominal rate, compounded monthly in arrears.

2017 2016

Non-controlling interest

Opening balance (35 623) -

Profit for the period attributable to NCI - (35 623)

Loss of control due to liquidation of subsidiary 35 623 -

Closing balance - (35 623)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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12.2 FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSLATION RESERVE 

The foreign currency translation reserve is the result of exchange differences arising from the translation of the Group’s 
foreign operations to the presentation currency of the holding company, being USD.

12.3 OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY 

Other components of equity include charges pertaining to the Maestro incentive scheme and the BEE ownership 
transaction.

(i) Maestro incentive scheme
The Group assumed an employee reward scheme liability as part of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of Bravura 
Equity Proprietary Limited in the period ending 31 March 2016. The liability was settled with share options on the 
Group’s own equity instruments during the year (refer to note 13).

2017 2016

Opening balance - -

Issue of share options on own equity instruments 2 816 086 -

Exchange gains 296 286 -

Closing balance 3 112 372 -

(ii) BEE ownership transaction
During the year, shareholders approved an issue of shares amounting to 29.9% of the issued share capital at a 
consideration (R60 million) below market value, in terms of a Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) ownership 
transaction. On 12 August 2016, 95,850,423 shares were issued in terms of the Group’s BEE ownership transaction.

The transaction entered into comprised of two components being an equity stake acquired by ARC in Bravura Holdings 
Limited and simultaneously preference share financing to be provided by African Rainbow Capital Proprietary Limited 
(ARC) upon request by any of the subsidiaries within the Group. ARC has committed to a lock-in, such that it will not 
dispose of its shareholding within 5 years from the date of its investment.

Measurement of the fair value
The shares have been issued to ARC, therefore, the transaction is classified as an equity-settled share-based payment 
and as there is no vesting period, the total fair value is expensed on grant date.

The fair value of the shares has been measured using the Black-Scholes model. The subscription price by African 
Rainbow Capital Proprietary Limited (ARC) has been taken into account and is deemed to be at a discount to the fair 
value of the shares issued. The fair value of the BEE credentials has been calculated as the fair value of the shares 
adjusted for the lock-in discount and the subscription price received.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of the BEE transaction, ARC will subscribe for preference share funding upon request for an amount similar to 
the subscription capital value. The preference share financing will be obtained at a discounted rate (10-year government 
bond rate plus a spread) to which the Group would otherwise obtain equity financing being at the entity’s cost of equity 
as determined by management. The raising of finance through preference share funding as opposed to debt financing 
through a financial institution or the like will result in a saving of transaction fees of approximately R1.2 million (2% of 
subscription capital value) which has been taken into account. This saving has been taken into account in the calculation 
of the BEE ownership expense, which has been recorded in profit or loss for the year.

The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date were as follows:

Fair value at grant date USD 7.91

Valuation date 3 August 2016

Lock-in discount 19.60%

Assumptions
The lock-in discount has been based on a market survey estimating the value of a five-year transferability discount 
during which ARC cannot trade their shares.

Calculation has been based on the assumption that the financing will be utilised at the full subscription value. 
Assumption has also been made on the maximum benefit derived if the financing were to be subscribed for immediately 
and the minimum benefit if the financing were to be subscribed for after 2 years. The difference between the entity’s 
cost of equity and the preference share coupon payments results in a benefit to the entity. This cost saving is regarded 
as the consideration paid by ARC to Bravura Holdings Limited for the purchase of the shares.

2017 2016

Issue of shares 4 470 606 -

Opening balance - -

BEE ownership transaction expense (note 19) 877 792 -

Exchange gains 29 569 -

Closing balance 907 361 -

Total other components of equity 4 019 733 -
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13. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

UNSECURED LOANS

2017 2016

Extell Investments 1 915 697 2 127 541

The loan is repayable over a maximum of 3 years as from the effective 
date, as and when the Group has the operational cash flow to facilitate 
such a payment. The outstanding capital amount shall bear interest at 3%.

Loans payable to externals 484 531 1 011 935

The loan is unsecured, has no fixed terms of repayment and bears interest 
at the prime overdraft rate. The loan is not expected to be recalled in the 
next year.

2 400 228 3 139 476

These loans carry interest at a market-related rate and therefore the 
amortised cost value approximates fair value.

Employee reward scheme - 2 816 087

The liability was assumed as part of the net identifiable assets and liabilities 
of Bravura Equity Proprietary Limited. The financial liability is acquired and 
recognised at its fair value.

The employee reward scheme liability relates to an incentive arrangement, 
which was established to align broader commercial and strategic 
objectives with certain key employees and reward certain employees for 
historic service. Share options were granted to the participants, which will 
entitle them to acquire shares in the Company’s holding company on the 
following broad terms:

•    different prices: depending on that person’s individual situation and 
would take the pro rata outstanding notional loan balance into account 
and

•    different times: depending on that person’s individual situation (in order 
to align with maturity terms under the incentive reward programme).

Share options were issued on the Group’s own equity instruments in 
settlement of this liability. 

Total other financial liabilities 2 400 228 5 955 563

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2017 2016

Non-current liabilities

Unsecured loans 2 400 228 3 139 476

Employee reward scheme - 2 816 087

2 400 228 5 955 563

Currencies

Financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

USD 1 915 697 2 127 541

NAD 1 528 930 -

ZAR 4 973 957 56 781 436

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2017 2016

Trade payables 233 903 449 177

Accrued and other expenses 133 921 15 209

Provisions 174 854 63 293

542 678 527 679

Currencies

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are denominated in the 
following currencies:

USD 72 608 218 710

AUD 89 977 -

ZAR 4 878 995 4 582 972

NAD 506 640 -
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15. REVENUE

2017 2016

Professional services fees 2 514 045 2 031 134

Dividends received through product offering 4 265 410 2 328 736

6 779 455 4 359 870

16. OTHER INCOME

2017 2016

Other income - 511 516

- 511 516

17. FINANCE INCOME

2017 2016

Interest revenue

Bank 41 192 5 264

Other financial assets at amortised cost 116 873 58 404

Staff loans 151 2 707

158 216 66 375

18. FINANCE COST

2017 2016

Finance charges paid on other financial liabilities at amortised cost 94 577 47 821

94 577 47 821

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. EXPENSES BY NATURE

2017 2016

Professional fees 808 167 794 471

Provision for bad debts 230 982 12 804

Premises cost (excluding leases) 64 214 16 945

Operating lease charge 299 857 96 505

Employee costs (short-term benefits – salaries) 5 696 095 1 212 447

Amortisation of intangible assets 24 339 461

Impairment of financial asset 405 110 -

BEE ownership transaction expense (note 12.3 (ii)) 877 792 -

Other expenses 62 718 158 959

8 469 274 2 292 592

20. TAXATION

REPUBLIC OF MAURITIUS

The profit of the companies incorporated in Mauritius, as adjusted for tax purposes, is subject to income tax at the rate 
of 15%. It is, however, entitled to a tax credit equivalent to the higher of the foreign taxes paid or 80% of the Mauritian 
tax on its foreign source income. Interest income from banks in Mauritius is exempt from tax and there is no tax on 
capital gains in Mauritius.

AUSTRALIA

The profit of the Company incorporated in Australia, as adjusted for tax purposes, is subject to income tax at the rate of 
28.5%.

REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

The profit of the companies incorporated in South Africa, as adjusted for tax purposes, is subject to income tax at the 
rate of 28%. Local dividend income in South Africa is exempt from tax.

NAMIBIA

The profit of the companies incorporated in Namibia, as adjusted for tax purposes, is subject to income tax at the rate 
of 32%. Local dividend income in Namibia is exempt from tax.
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2017 2016

Major components of the tax expense

Current

Local income tax – current period 20 631 9 629

Foreign income tax – prior period over provision (13 700) 18 655

6 931 28 284

Deferred

Originating and reversing temporary differences 25 568 (33 849)

32 499 (5 565)

Reconciliation of the tax expense

The income tax expense for the year/period can be reconciled to the 
accounting profit as follows:

Accounting (loss)/profit before tax (1 626 180) 3 599 663

Income tax expense calculated at 22% (2016: 30%) (357 759) 107 990

Effect of income that is exempt from taxation (957 546) (1 149 844)

Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 544 302 152 920

Effect of unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 807 016 888 934

Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions - 5 565

36 013 5 565

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of 
prior years

(3 514) -

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 32 499 5 565

Current tax recognised in the statement of financial position

Opening balance 19 877 -

Charge for the year/period 6 931 28 284

Taxation paid (28 359) (8 407)

Exchange gain 2 091 -

Closing balance 540 19 877

21. EARNINGS PER SHARE  

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share has been based on the following (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding.

12 months
ended 31 March

2017

8 months
ended 31 March

2016

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic)

(Loss)/profit for the period attributable to the owners of the Company (1 658 679) 3 640 851

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (basic)

Effect of shares issued 3 August 2015 100 100

Effect of shares issued 23 October 2015 115 098 280 115 098 280

Effect of shares issued 25 January 2016 81 728 317 20 432 079

Effect of shares issued 14 March 2016 20 306 455 890 146

Effect of shares issued 29 April 2016 6 983 646 -

Effect of shares issued 12 August 2016 60 661 501 -

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares at 31 March 284 778 299 136 420 605

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of diluted earnings per share has been based on the following (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and weighed-average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustments for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares.

2017 2016

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)

(Loss)/profit for the period attributable to the owners of the Company 
(basic)

(1 658 679) 3 640 851

(Loss)/profit for the period attributable to the owners of the Company 
(diluted)

(1 658 679) 3 640 851

Weighed-average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

Weighed-average number of ordinary shares at 31 March (basic) 284 778 299 136 420 605

Effect of share options on issue 28 489 413 19 386 231

Weighed-average number of ordinary shares at 31 March (diluted) 313 267 712 155 806 836

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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22. CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2017 2016

(Loss)/profit for the year before taxation (1 658 679) 3 605 228

Adjustments for:

Finance income (158 216) (66 375)

Finance cost 94 577 47 821

BEE ownership transaction expense 877 792 -

Taxation 32 499 (5 565)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 709 803 11 317

Changes in working capital

Trade and other receivables (1 872 496) (1 929 472)

Trade and other payables 12 857 527 679

(1 961 863) 2 190 633

23. RELATED PARTIES

RELATIONSHIPS

Holding entity

CMB Investment Limited

Common directorship

Intercontinental Trust Limited

Extell Investments Limited

Subsidiaries Percentage held Country of incorporation

Amitral Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Bleenti Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Bravura Capital Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Bravura Solutions Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Bravura South Africa Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Calante Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Bravura Mauritius Limited 100% MAU

Colliquet Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Davinda Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Extell Capital (Australia) Proprietary Limited 100% AUS

Leticraft Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Meriman Financial Holdings Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Mestoflex Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Modymi Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Nilaplex Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

NSB Investments Proprietary Limited 100% NAM

Nam Fin Trust 100% NAM

Starting Right Investments 286 Proprietary Limited 100% NAM

Strolant Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Tralinq Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Vistrasto Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Zargosign Investments Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Zondiprox Proprietary Limited 100% RSA

Associate

Taupe Financial Services Proprietary Limited 33% AUS

Divergent Real Estate Proprietary Limited 50.1% RSA

The main business of all subsidiaries and associates of the Group is financial services.

Divergent Real Estate Proprietary Limited is a vehicle that was created to establish the Group’s property initiative. Due to 
the contractual rights that are in place between all shareholders, the Group does not control the vehicle. The vehicle has 
therefore been equity accounted, but due to losses incurred the investment has been impaired.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

The following disclosures are made in accordance with the provisions of IAS 24-Related Party Disclosures, in respect of 
the compensation of key management personnel. Under IAS 24, ‘key management personnel’ are defined as comprising 
directors (executive and non-executive).

Fees and 
salaries

Total

2017

Directors’ fees (short-term benefits) 502 107 502 107

502 107 502 107

2016

Directors’ fees (short-term benefits) 25 277 25 277

25 277 25 277

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL TRANSACTIONS

A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other companies that result in them 
having control or significant influence over these companies.

A number of these companies transacted with the Company during the year. The terms and conditions of these 
transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, in 
similar transactions with non-key management personnel related companies on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances related to key management personnel and entities over 
which they have control or significant influence were as follows:

Related party Transaction 2017 2016

Intercontinental Trust Limited Advisory fee 49 188 -

Intercontinental Trust Limited Professional fees 8 810 6 830

Intercontinental Trust Limited Fees to act as company registry 5 096 3 570

Intercontinental Trust Limited Formation cost 3 294 -

Intercontinental Trust Limited Sponsor fee 10 041 98 898

Intercontinental Trust Limited Secretarial fees 1 260 -

Intercontinental Trust Limited Directors’ fees 10 700 -

88 389 109 298

Intercontinental Trust Limited Balance outstanding 24 721 6 830

OTHER RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS OR BALANCES

Related party 2017 2016

Extell Investments Limited Transaction: acquisition of 
subsidiaries

- 2 031 245

Extell Investments Limited Balance outstanding 1 915 697 2 127 541

24. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES    

BRAVURA MAURITIUS LIMITED  

On 4 August 2015, the Company acquired 100 ordinary shares at no par value, representing 100% holding in Bravura 
Mauritius Limited, for a purchase consideration of USD 10. On 19 August 2015, Bravura Mauritius Limited acquired 
65 ‘A’ ordinary shares at no par value, representing 65% holding in Calante Proprietary Limited and 2 ordinary shares 
at par value of AUD 1 each, representing 100% holding in Extell Capital (Australia) Proprietary Limited, for purchase 
consideration of USD 12,219,904 and USD 1,313,053 respectively.

2016

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Property, plant & equipment 212

Intangible assets 2 020

Financial assets designated at fair value 4 269 173

Available-for-sale investments 796 175

Loans receivable 1 124 099

Trade receivables 1 248 427

Cash & cash equivalents 97 707

Interest bearing borrowings (128 079)

Trade and other payables (38 589)

Preference share capital (312 197)

Total identifiable net assets acquired 7 058 948

Goodwill

Consideration transferred 13 532 957

NCI based on their proportionate interest in the recognised assets and liabilities 2 470 632

Fair value of identifiable net assets (7 058 948)

Goodwill 8 944 641

BRAVURA SOUTH AFRICA PROPRIETARY LIMITED ACQUISITION

On 17 December 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest in Bravura South Africa Proprietary 
Limited. The entity obtained control of Bravura South Africa Proprietary Limited as a result.

Bravura Holdings Limited intends to grow its portfolio of assets, mainly through investments in good quality high-
yielding shares and financial instruments, as well as strategic investments into good quality financial services businesses.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Consideration transferred
The following table summarises the acquisition date the fair value of each major class of consideration transferred:

2016

Cash 821

Equity instruments 7 460 735

Total consideration transferred 7 461 556

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Property, plant & equipment 101 124

Intangible assets 2 543

Investment in subsidiaries 67 696

Financial assets designated at fair value 1 494 265

Available-for-sale investments 237 284

Loans and borrowings (2 393 970)

Deferred tax asset 83 085

Receivables 2 759 182

Cash & cash equivalents 413 940

Employee reward scheme (2 677 784)

Trade and other payables (1 125 608)

Preference share capital (8 893 017)

Total identifiable net liabilities acquired (9 931 260)

 

Goodwill

Consideration transferred 7 461 556

Fair value of identifiable net liabilities 9 931 260

Goodwill 17 392 816

STARTING RIGHT INVESTMENTS 286 PROPRIETARY LIMITED ACQUISITION

On 30 November 2015, the Company acquired 100 ordinary shares at par value of NAD 1 each, representing 100% 
holding in Starting Right Investments 286 Proprietary Limited, for a purchase consideration of NAD 100. On 13 January 
2016, the Company subscribed for 10,000 ordinary shares in Starting for a total subscription price of NAD 10,000.

On 18 May 2016, the Company further subscribed for 100 ordinary shares in Starting Right Investments 286 Proprietary 
Limited for a total subscription price of NAD 11,241,658.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

NILAPLEX PROPRIETARY LIMITED ACQUISITION

On 24 February 2016, the Company acquired 200 ordinary shares at par value of ZAR 1 each, representing 100% 
holding in Nilaplex Proprietary Limited, for a purchase consideration of USD 600.

On 25 July 2016, the Company further subscribed for 25 ordinary shares in Nilaplex Proprietary Limited for a total 
subscription price of ZAR 60,000,000.

CONCISE GROUP HOLDINGS PROPRIETARY LIMITED ACQUISITION

On 14 March 2016, the Company acquired 1,318 ordinary shares, representing 65.9% holding in Concise Group 
Holdings Proprietary Limited, for a purchase consideration of USD 2,030,645.

2016

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Investment in subsidiaries 63 128

Financial assets designated at fair value 2 740 475

Loans receivable 216 753

Cash & cash equivalents 12 604

Total identifiable net assets acquired 3 032 960

Gain on bargain purchase

Consideration transferred 2 030 645

Fair value of identifiable net assets (3 032 960)

Gain on bargain purchase (1 002 315)
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NSB INVESTMENTS PROPRIETARY LIMITED AND NAMFIN TRUST

On 18 May 2016, the Company, via its subsidiary, acquired 100 ordinary shares, representing 100% holding in NSB 
Investments Proprietary Limited, for a purchase consideration of NAD 11,241,658.

2017

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Property, plant & equipment 4 440

Amount owed by external 115 746

Cash & cash equivalents 543 590

Trade and other payables (2 142)

Total identifiable net assets acquired 661 634

Goodwill

Consideration transferred 759 059

Fair value of identifiable net liabilities (661 634)

Goodwill 97 425

25. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group has the following divisions, which are combined to make the reportable segments. These divisions offer 
similar services and are managed as one, as the services are inter related.

Divisions Operations
Corporate finance Capital restructuring
Structured solutions Structured financing

The Group’s chief executive officer reviews the internal management reports of each geographical area on a monthly basis.

Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. Segment revenue is used to measure performance 
because management believes that this information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of the respective 
segments relative to other entities that operate in the same industries.

2017 2016

Revenue

South Africa 4 247 302 3 824 312

Mauritius - 411 126

Australia 510 863 124 432

Namibia 2 021 290

6 779 455 4 359 870

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

26. OPERATING LEASES 

LEASES AS LESSEE

The Group leases a number of office premises under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 3 years. 
Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices.

2017 2016

Future minimum lease payments

At 31 March, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
leases were payable as follows:

Less than one year 336 772 333 447

Between one and three years 673 544 666 894

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Lease expense 299 857 96 505

27. COMPARATIVE PERIOD  

The Group was incorporated on 3 August 2015. The 31 March 2016 financial statements present the Group’s first period 
of operation, and contains information for 8 months. The 31 March 2017 financial statements is the first full year’s results, 
and contains information for 12 months.

28. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

No events after the reporting period.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Bravura Holdings remains fully committed to complying with all legal requirements and The Report on Corporate 
Governance for Mauritius. The directors recognise the need to conduct the enterprise with integrity and in accordance 
with generally accepted corporate governance practices. This includes timely, relevant and meaningful reporting to 
shareholders and all other stakeholders and providing a proper and objective perspective of the Company and its 
activities. The board strives to ensure that the Group is ethically managed according to prudently determined risk 
parameters and corporate governance principles.

The board has established controls and procedures to ensure enhanced accuracy and integrity of accounting 
records, and to ensure that assets are safeguarded. This also ensures that financial statements may be relied upon for 
maintaining accountability. These mechanisms and policies are reviewed regularly.

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The board comprises four non-executive directors, two of whom are also independent, and two are executive directors. 
There is an appropriate balance of power and authority on the board, such that no one individual or block of individuals 
dominates the board’s decision-making. 

Board meetings are held at least quarterly, with additional meetings convened as circumstances require. The board sets 
the strategic objectives of the Group and determines investment and performance criteria as well as being responsible 
for the sustainability, proper management, control, compliance and ethical behaviour of the businesses under its 
direction. 

The board has established a number of committees to give detailed attention to certain of its responsibilities and which 
operate within defined, written terms of reference. As such, certain functions have been delegated to the Risk and Audit, 
Corporate Governance and Investment Committees. The board is conscious of the fact that such delegation of duties 
is not an abdication of the board members’ responsibilities. The various committees’ terms of reference are reviewed 
annually. 

2. RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of this committee are three non-executive directors, Kamal Taposeea (independent), Uday Gujadhur and 
Ben Padayachy (independent).

The board is of the opinion that the committee ensures the governance required. The head of finance, executive 
directors, head of risk, and external auditors attend committee meetings as invitees. The committee’s primary mandate 
includes evaluating the systems of internal financial and operational control and accounting policies, reviewing the 
publication of financial information, recommending the appointment, terms of engagement and remuneration of the 
external auditors, and ensuring the independence of the external auditors. 

The committee also reviews the Group’s critical business, operational, financial and compliance exposures and 
sustainability issues. The committee’s role in risk management is to set the process for the identification and 
management of risk, report any significant risks to the board, review corporate governance guidelines and their 
implementation, and review and approve group insurance policies.

The committee also reports annually at the annual general meeting on how it has discharged its duties during the 
financial year reported on.

3. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Two non-executive directors, Ben Lim and Uday Gujadhur, and an executive director, Adie du Plessis, serve on this 
committee.

This committee is responsible for the reporting requirements on Corporate Governance, the Group’s policy on 
remuneration, measuring the performance of the Executive Committee and non-executive directors, the remuneration 
of non-executive directors, the appointment and induction of new directors, and ensuring that the right balance of skills, 
expertise and independence is maintained in the board. 

Through the work of the committee the board ensures that the Group’s performance and interaction with stakeholders 
are guided by its constitution, and that the impact of its businesses on the environment, society and the economy is 
assessed and considered. The committee is assessed annually to ensure the Group’s adherence to corporate citizenship 
principles and ethical performance.

4. INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee meets when necessary to consider the Group’s investment policy and to assess identified 
investment opportunities and to make recommendations to the board. The board determines the committee’s authority 
level. 

5. COMPANY SECRETARY

Intercontinental Trust Limited is the Company Secretary. They provide the board and the directors with detailed 
guidance and advice as to the proper discharge of their duties, ethics and good corporate governance, in the best 
interest of the Group. 

The Company Secretary’s performance is subject to annual evaluation by the board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Bravura Holdings Limited
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited

Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity
Ebène 72201

Mauritius

Tel +230 403 0800
Fax +230 403 0801

www.bravura.net
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